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INTRODUCTION


Sunday, April 30, 1939, dawned bright and sunny in New York. But by lunchtime a lid of low, dark clouds had clamped over the city, and soon it was steadily and drearily pelting rain. Knowing what we know now, the historiographer James Mauro noted in Twilight at the World of Tomorrow, it’s hard not to see this shift in the weather as ominously portentous.


April 30 was the day for the grand opening of the 1939 New York World’s Fair. The fair’s theme was “Building the World of Tomorrow.” Starting in 1936, sixty nations, dozens of corporations, some of New York’s finest architects and designers, and an army of workers had pitched in to transform an ash dump in Flushing Meadows, Queens, into a heroic, soaring vision of a utopian future, a world of peace and harmony, rocket ships and robots, orderly ribbons of highway and glittering forests of skyscrapers.


President Franklin D. Roosevelt, Mayor Fiorello La Guardia, Albert Einstein, and other dignitaries were on hand for the grand opening. The one million fairgoers organizers had predicted were not. The gloomy, wet weather reduced attendance to at best half that, and some estimates were as low as two hundred thousand.


On April 30, 1939, the future was cloudy indeed. Two of the world’s fair’s sixty original nations, Austria and Czechoslovakia, had recently ceased to exist as independent states, devoured by Hitler’s Germany. Germany, another original participant, had pulled out of the fair in a fit of pique over increasing criticism from Americans, not least of them the outspoken La Guardia.


In September 1939, as the fair’s first season was drawing to a close, Germany invaded another participating nation, Poland. Within weeks, Germany and the Soviet Union had divided the country. Two more nations at the fair, England and France, declared war.


New York’s world’s fair, like the world itself, was in shambles when it opened again in May 1940. From “The World of Tomorrow,” which now seemed hopelessly naive, the official theme was changed to “For Peace and Freedom.” Ten nations did not reopen their pavilions, most of them because they were now in Nazi hands. Finland, overrun by the Soviets, closed its pavilion. The Soviet Union had shut down its own pavilion, dismantled it, and shipped it away.


By July Hitler had established dominion over virtually all of western Europe, and his Luftwaffe was bombing England in preparation for an invasion. That July 4, a terrorist bomb at the fair killed two people and severely injured others. Japan, which had one of the more popular national pavilions at the fair, formally joined the Axis alliance with Germany and Italy that September. By the time the fair dispiritedly folded for good at the end of October 1940 its theme might as well have been “The World at War.”


The conflict that began in September 1939 raged on around the world until August 1945. Fifty million to 85 million people died (estimates still vary). Millions more were injured, raped, enslaved, displaced, or otherwise brutalized. Many of the world’s great cities were smashed to rubble. It all ended in the hellish flash of the most powerful weapon yet developed, the atom bomb.


Still, dreams of global peace and progress survived, and in 1946 they returned to Flushing Meadows. The only structure from the ’39 world’s fair still standing, the large New York City Building, was converted into a meeting hall for the first gathering of the General Assembly of the United Nations. While delegates conferred there, work on the UN’s permanent home got under way in Turtle Bay, a former area of slaughterhouses and crumbling waterfront on the east side of midtown Manhattan. On October 24, 1949—just a week short of ten years since the first season of the New York World’s Fair ended—President Truman, New York governor Thomas Dewey, various diplomats, and ten thousand onlookers gathered at the foot of the slim, elegant UN Secretariat tower, still under construction, to lay the granite cornerstone.


Becoming the home of the United Nations and the “capital of the world” was the crowning achievement for New York City when it was at the zenith of its power and influence. In the decades surrounding World War II, New York was a far larger presence in America and around the world than it is today.


To start with, there was its sheer size. In the 1920s it had eclipsed London to become the largest city in the world. Its population of seven and a half million in 1940 was larger than the next three American cities—Chicago, Philadelphia, and Detroit—combined. It was bigger than the populations of the fourteen smallest states combined. Three of its five boroughs—Manhattan, Brooklyn, and the Bronx—would rank among the eight most populous cities in the country. Almost 6 percent of all Americans lived within its five boroughs, 10 percent in the greater metropolitan area. It was also an extraordinarily diverse and cosmopolitan population. More Jews lived in New York than in any other city in the world, more blacks than in any other city in America, more Irish than in Dublin, more Germans than anywhere outside Germany, almost as many Italians as in Rome.


While Washington was the nation’s political capital, New York was the capital in just about every other way that mattered. Its port was the busiest in the world, shipping 40 percent of all imports and exports for the entire United States. It was the nation’s wholesale and retail merchandising hub. It was its powerhouse of banking and international finance. There were more Fortune 500 headquarters in Manhattan than anywhere in the country. Although it had no giant steel mills or automobile plants, New York’s tens of thousands of smaller factories employing a million workers made it the largest factory town in the world.


It was the nerve center of national media, headquarters of the national radio networks and the big national magazines. When the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor, New Yorkers could read about it in a dozen English-language dailies: the Daily News, the New York Times, the Herald Tribune, the Sun, the Wall Street Journal, the Mirror, the New York Post, the Journal-American, the World-Telegram, the Brooklyn Eagle, the Daily Worker, and the new PM. The conservative Daily News was the largest-circulation paper in the country, selling two million copies a day during the week, four million on Sundays. The New York Times moved far fewer copies, but it was highly influential among the power elite in Washington as well as New York. There were also foreign-language dailies, including the Forward for Yiddish readers and Il Progresso Italo-Americano, and a number of weeklies, such as the archconservative Examiner, which, because it came out on Sundays, was the first New York paper to carry the Pearl Harbor news on Sunday, December 7, 1941.


Home to Tin Pan Alley and the Brill Building, Broadway and book publishing, the Harlem Renaissance and Greenwich Village bohemia, New York City was the culture engine for the nation. It even styled and made the clothes Americans wore.


New York’s political clout in Washington was at its height in this period. Having this massive population center in it gave New York State more electoral votes than any other—47 in 1940. Pennsylvania came second with 36. This made winning the state key in any presidential election—and the city, with half of the state’s voters, was key to winning the state. In the first half of the twentieth century, getting elected governor of New York was a very good way to be taken seriously as a presidential candidate. From the mid-1880s to 1948 governors Grover Cleveland, Teddy Roosevelt, Charles Evans Hughes, Al Smith, Franklin Roosevelt, and Thomas Dewey won their parties’ nominations, and three of them went to the White House.


It’s no exaggeration to say that from the day President Roosevelt took office in 1933 to the day he died in 1945, New Yorkers ran the country. Washington, D.C., was virtually Gotham-on-the-Potomac. Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt’s family roots in New York reached back to the 1600s. Eleanor was born in the city, kept residences there throughout her life, and died there. Franklin was born and raised up the Hudson but lived in Manhattan on and off until moving into the White House. On arriving there he filled his administration with the best and brightest, the most powerful and influential people New York City had to offer: corporate leaders, judges, lawyers, bankers, academics, scientists, social workers, playwrights, composers, journalists, even advertising executives. Roosevelt’s right-hand man, many of his closest advisers, and his speechwriters all came down from New York. He put New Yorkers in his cabinet and on the Supreme Court, and he had New Yorkers running many of his agencies. New York intellectuals formed the core of his “brains trust.” New Yorkers played the principal roles in crafting the New Deal programs that gradually lifted the nation out of the Great Depression, and in guiding the nation’s efforts in the war, and in holding together the Grand Alliance of Roosevelt-Churchill-Stalin to win the war. Some were salaried federal employees, others donated their time and skills as so-called dollar-a-year men, paid a symbolic salary of a dollar a year because U.S. law forbids the government from accepting the services of unpaid volunteers.


New York City’s participation in the war can be gauged by other metrics. Some 850,000 New York City residents served in the armed forces during the war, more than from any other American city. Tens of thousands of U.S. Navy officers, male and female, were trained in New York City, more than anywhere else. New York State suffered some forty-three thousand war casualties, more than any other. The giant Manhattan Project that produced the Hiroshima and Nagasaki bombs was aptly named: it began in New York City and was led by an Upper West Side native, J. Robert Oppenheimer.


Tens of thousands of New Yorkers, from high school students to pensioners, volunteered as air raid wardens, as auxiliary police and firemen, as civilian sailors and pilots who patrolled the U-boat-infested Atlantic coast, and with the Red Cross, the USO (headquartered in New York), the Stage Door Canteen, and other support organizations. Thousands of black and female New Yorkers joined the war effort in defense plants and the Brooklyn Navy Yard, in hospitals and offices, driving buses and cabs. Everyone who could bought war bonds, contributed to scrap drives, and tended hundreds of thousands of Victory Gardens. Even New York’s most notorious gangsters and mafiosi pitched in.
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The giant, diverse city of New York rarely speaks with one mind on any topic, and World War II–era New Yorkers were no exception. Mussolini and Hitler had fans and supporters among all strata, from wealthy blue bloods to poor immigrants. Mayor La Guardia was one of the earliest and harshest American critics of Nazism, at the same time that the largest pro-Nazi group in America, the German American Bund, set up its headquarters in Manhattan. Several of the city’s large corporations and banks, even as their dollar-a-year men were assisting President Roosevelt in preparing for and then conducting the war, hedged their bets and invested in the regimes of Hitler and Mussolini.


The Communist Party in America was headquartered in Manhattan. Native New Yorkers figured prominently among the traitors who fed Manhattan Project secrets to the Soviet Union. Black New Yorkers were reticent to help free the rest of the world from oppression when they were oppressed at home, and their resentment boiled over into a midwar riot in Harlem. New York’s Jewish community was deeply divided over Roosevelt and the Allies’ lack of response to the Holocaust as it unfolded.


New York City was also home to some of the most organized, influential antiwar and isolationist groups of the 1930s. Public expression of antiwar sentiments all but vanished after the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor, obscuring the fact that for most of the period between World War I and World War II Americans had been overwhelmingly, almost unanimously against ever again getting involved in foreign wars. Before Pearl Harbor propelled America into the conflict, Franklin Roosevelt and the New Yorkers he’d gathered around him expended considerable effort slowly and gingerly prodding the nation toward intervention.


Any history of World War II and New York City’s role in it thus properly begins twenty years earlier.
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PART ONE


Storm Clouds Gather


While the storm clouds gather far across the sea


Let us swear allegiance to a land that’s free.


—“God Bless America,” Irving Berlin (1938)














CHAPTER 1



Decades of Disaster



The period from 1914 through 1945 was a time of global death and destruction on a scale not seen in human history. The Great War was followed immediately by a worldwide influenza pandemic, then the Great Depression, horrific famine in the Soviet Union, and finally World War II and the Holocaust, ending with the apocalyptic specter of the A-bomb.


Some historians suggest that the Great War and World War II, which bookend the period, are best understood not as two wars at all but as a single long one, the twentieth century’s Thirty Years’ War, which flared from 1914 through 1918, smoldered through the next two decades, then roared back to full fury in 1939. The human race shocked itself with the scale and savagery of the first world war, a war that began by accident and then dragged on year after year with a terrible monotony, like a nightmare from which the world couldn’t wake. It left at least 50 million people dead or maimed and large swaths of Europe in desolate ruin. It introduced new or improved technologies of slaughter—the tank, the airplane, chemical warfare, the U-boat, the giant dreadnought. It erased the traditional line separating combatant and noncombatant; in the Great War, everyone was fair game, everyone was cannon fodder. It toppled the old political regimes of Europe, only to clear the ground for the radical politics of Communism, Fascism, and Nazism.


The war was just sputtering to a close in the autumn of 1918 when influenza struck around the world, killing another 20 million to 40 million people by winter’s end. Some 675,000 Americans died from it, more than all American deaths of World Wars I and II combined.


The chaotic Versailles peace conference that followed the Great War opened in January 1919, in the midst of the pandemic. A British delegate likened it to “a riot in a parrot house.” The thousands of delegates and consultants disagreed about virtually everything. President Woodrow Wilson went with his hopelessly lofty ideas about a League of Nations and permanent world peace; the French wanted to reduce Germany to a weak and unthreatening neighbor; others wanted to maintain a relatively intact Germany as a buffer against bolshevism spreading out of Russia; and England continued its centuries-old policy of playing one continental power against another for its own security.


In the end, the “peace” conference only set the world on a course to further conflict. The victors redrew the map of Europe, carving away pieces of Germany, splitting up the Austro-Hungarian Empire, patching together new political entities, including Czechoslovakia and Yugoslavia, which seemed almost designed by intent to be future sites of contention. Germany was forced to give up more than 10 percent of its territory and population. Both its military and its armaments industry were to be dismantled. The war had cost the country hundreds of billions of marks; the victors demanded gigantic reparations on top of that. Under threat of invasion, Germany agreed. As a final slap, the country was blockaded while the negotiations dragged on, and thousands of Germans died of starvation before it was over.


It all had a cataclysmic impact on the German people. Intensely proud and nationalistic, they now felt just as intensely humiliated and betrayed. Kaiser Wilhelm abdicated and the monarchy collapsed, replaced by a weak parliamentary democracy nominally presided over by a coalition of squabbling political entities, the Weimar Republic. Inflation that started during the war accelerated into surreal hyperinflation that lasted into the early 1920s. At war’s end 20 German marks equaled a British pound; by 1924 it had plummeted to 20 billion marks to the pound.


It was the average German citizen, the workers and the middle class, who suffered. The large industrialists and wealthy landowners actually benefited, because inflation wiped out their debts while sending the value of their properties soaring. Largely through a mighty influx of capital from America—principally Wall Street bankers and big corporations headquartered in Manhattan—the German economy stabilized by 1924, then went into a surge of fantastic growth, the halcyon time of Weimar art, culture, and decadent pleasures. The mood of the people relaxed. It helped that the rabble-rouser Adolf Hitler, who was jailed after his failed 1923 putsch, was forbidden to speak in public for several years.


But the world depression that followed the New York stock market crash of 1929 fell with particular force on Germany. Its industrial output was cut in half, banks failed, and millions of Germans were thrown into unemployment and wretched poverty. The republic was doomed. From the seething cauldron of extremist political movements vying to replace it, the industrialists chose to back Hitler and the National Socialists. Believing that they could maintain control over Hitler, they gave him the funding and the social prestige he needed to seize power in 1933, and then helped him build the military machine with which he intended to take back what Germany had lost in the Great War, and much more.


The outcome of World War I ultimately led Italy and Japan to join Germany in the Axis alliance. Benito Mussolini started out a fiery Socialist like his blacksmith father. When the Great War began, the Socialist Party condemned it as a squabble between the old monarchies and lobbied strenuously against Italy’s joining in. Mussolini broke with them, arguing that participating in the war and sharing in the spoils would give Italians a sense of national pride and unity they’d never felt. (Italy had been a nation for only some fifty years.) When the other victors at Versailles largely denied Italy any spoils, Italians felt as cheated and dishonored as Germans did. Mussolini seized the chance to pull irate war veterans and others into his new Fascist movement, which brought him to power in 1922. He quickly established his dictatorship. His admirer Adolf Hitler would follow his example in the next decade.


Japan emerged from the Great War, and its earlier victories over Russia and China, as a bona fide world power. But as an island nation it was hemmed in by the Western powers’ colonial interests in the Pacific and starved for the raw materials on which to build a modern economy and military. Hitler’s Germany faced similar shortages, and each saw territorial conquest as the solution. Starting in 1931, Japan’s program of military expansion into Manchuria, China, and French Indochina made a collision with the West inevitable. Hoping to curtail Japan’s empire building without military confrontation, Roosevelt would wage economic war, embargoing exports of fuel, steel, and iron, then freezing all Japanese assets in the United States. At that stage Japan, which had allied with Germany and Italy, could either shrink back or attack. It would choose to attack.
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For its part, although U.S. involvement in the Great War had been relatively brief and the nation was more or less physically unscathed, the appalling, pointless barbarity of it was deeply demoralizing to most Americans and it left the entire nation, in a sense, shell-shocked. After Pearl Harbor, “isolationism” would become a dirty and shameful word, a taint it has carried ever since. Americans quickly and conveniently forgot that from the end of the Great War through most of the 1930s virtually all of them—95 percent in some national opinion polls—were isolationists. Left wing and right, feckless college kids and gray-bearded veterans, Charles Lindbergh and John Kennedy and Gerald Ford—they all agreed that if the world ever went to war again, the United States must not get involved. Even President Roosevelt’s wife was an isolationist. “How can we live through the things that we have lived through and complacently go on allowing the same causes over and over again to put us through these same horrible experiences?” Eleanor cried in a 1934 speech. “Anyone who thinks must think of the next war as they would of suicide.” In an antiwar march down Fifth Avenue shortly thereafter, protesters carried placards that read MRS. F.D.R. SAYS: “WAR IS SUICIDE!”


Isolationism was one symptom of a much broader reaction to the world war, a rejection not just of foreign wars but of foreign influences, foreign ideas, and foreigners themselves. Fear of “alien” influences ranging from communism and anarchism to Roman Catholicism surged. Severe new restrictions on immigration were enacted in 1921 and 1924, slamming Emma Lazarus’s “golden door” on the two largest groups of newcomers since the 1880s, southern Italians and eastern European Jews. (Lazarus herself was descended from Jewish immigrants.) Anti-Semitism, which had always percolated through American culture, rose to new levels in the 1920s and ’30s. The postwar years saw a resurgence of the Ku Klux Klan and other hate groups that played on Americans’ suspicions of anyone and anything nonwhite and non-Protestant.


Turning their backs on the world and its problems was very easy for Americans to do in the 1920s. While Europe lay in ruins and chaos, in America the 1920s was a decade of phenomenal economic growth. Industry surged as new technologies transformed everything from coal mining and the corporate office to automobile manufacturing (which shot up from just over half a million new cars a year in 1914 to more than five million in 1929). Productivity overall increased 70 percent. Millions of new homes were built in the 1920s, equipped with electricity and telephones.


In New York, Wall Street was borne aloft on winds of speculation and margin buying. The rich got richer and richer. But it was the spending of the masses that was revolutionary. Middle- and working-class consumers, egged on by vigorous advertising, spent like never before, using a new invention, the installment plan, to buy cars, furniture, clothing, Victrolas, washing machines, radios. The upward cycle of investment, production, and consumption seemed to have no ceiling. As newsman Eric Sevareid would later put it, America appeared to have found a “magic key to eternal prosperity.”


Even Prohibition, virtually the decade’s only gesture of austerity, incited giddy, mindless hedonism. In New York City, central casting could not have sent a better figurehead for the period than the hard-partying, hardly working, and breezily corrupt mayor Jimmy Walker, aka the Night Mayor. Son of one of Tammany’s more upright citizens, Jimmy started out a songwriter, a friend of George M. Cohan and Ira Gershwin, and married a Broadway chorus girl. Then he obeyed his father and went into politics. In the state assembly he came under Al Smith’s wing, and in January 1926 he entered the mayor’s office. For the next four years he played affable host to the city’s nonstop gaiety, more easily found in one of the better nightclubs or speakeasies than behind his desk.
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The Roaring Twenties ended almost exactly on cue, in October 1929, with the total collapse of Wall Street. New York City was the epicenter from which shock waves of economic misery spread around the world in the following years. Before October 1929, national unemployment stood at around 3 percent. When Franklin Roosevelt took office in March 1933, it was around 25 percent. Of 130 million Americans, an astounding 34 million were without means of support.


In New York City, where it all began, the Great Depression came down like a sledgehammer. Half of the city’s manufacturing facilities closed in the first two years. The usually overcrowded and bustling port fell quiet. Unemployment in the city reached 33 percent by 1932, and almost two million New Yorkers went on relief. Thousands, unable to pay their rents, were thrown out of their homes. Many built their own shanty jungles, known as Hoovervilles, all over the city; the Great Lawn of Central Park was covered in tar-paper shacks.


At the start of the Depression, the City of New York maintained a single homeless shelter, the Municipal Lodging House on East 25th Street, with some nine hundred beds. When it became clear that this was woefully inadequate, the city opened two annexes, one in the long shed on the nearby Pier 73, with three thousand beds, and the other in the South Ferry terminal at the foot of Manhattan, with almost two thousand beds. Breadlines ten men deep and blocks long formed outside the Lodging House every day for the free hot lunches. (Only men lined up. Women and children were let right in.) Men lucky enough to get cots in the Lodging House were woken up at 4:30 in the morning. They raced one another out to various street corners around the city where, again if they were lucky, they might climb into a truck and be carried away for a day’s work, handing out circulars in the city or working on farms nearby.


In December 1930, some twenty-five thousand depositors gathered outside the Bronx branch of the Bank of the United States, withdrawing $2 million in one day. It was the fourth-largest bank in the country. When it failed, the first big bank in the city to do so, it started a run on other banks around the country. Three hundred banks failed within a month; more than ten thousand would be closed by 1933. A Brooklyn woman who had lost most of her savings when the Bank of the United States closed hung herself from a water pipe in her basement.


New York had suffered wrenching recessions and depressions before, but this one, slamming the city to the pavement after the high-flying 1920s, was particularly shocking and frightening. A political operative named Ernest Cuneo, who was an aide to Fiorello La Guardia at the time, later wrote that “it wasn’t so much the hunger or the hardships of actual poverty itself that gave the haggard face of the thirties its haunted look; it was something less tangible and much worse: the universal loss of self-respect. Deprived of their function as breadwinner, men felt deeply ashamed and cruelly frustrated.” And just as the ebullient speculation of the boom years could make paper tycoons of waiters and cabdrivers, the Depression, the journalist Lorena Hickok reported from New York in 1933, affected “a complete cross-section of the population… all thrown together in a vast pit of human misery.” When construction ground to a halt, architects and engineers lost their jobs along with the bricklayers and hod carriers. Ad agencies cut their staffs by half or more. With two-thirds of the city’s legitimate (nonburlesque) theaters going dark, three-fifths of professional musicians and 70 percent of professional actors lost their jobs. Many headed west, hoping to find work in Hollywood. Three out of ten doctors in Brooklyn had their office telephones taken out because they couldn’t pay the bills anymore. Debutantes fought for jobs as chorus girls, Cuneo wrote, and the West 50s in Manhattan became notorious for its part-time prostitutes, “young women with cultivated accents, the residues of wardrobes of excellent tailoring, and bitter smiles of contemptuous resignation.”


As the capital of capital as well as the epicenter of the crash, New York City responded with a few symbolic acts of defiant bravado. The Chrysler Building was completed in 1930, the Empire State Building in 1931, Rockefeller Center in 1933. Henry Luce launched his magazine Fortune in 1930, and he would locate its offices in the Chrysler Building. But these soaring expressions of hope hardly made an impact on most New Yorkers’ lives; the Empire State Building, barely tenanted when it opened, was nicknamed the Empty State Building and bled red ink for the next twenty years. The artist George Ault called the new skyscrapers “tombstones of capitalism… with windows.”


Like a biblical blight ravaging an already suffering people, the weather turned freakishly apocalyptic in the mid-1930s. During the miserably hot summer of 1934, immense dust storms raged across the continent. Known as “black blizzards” and “dry blizzards,” they blew up in mountainous whirlwind clouds from the parched, eroded soil of the Southwest farmland dubbed the Dust Bowl, then marched east. On July 3 of that year, after several days of broiling heat that killed at least three New Yorkers, one of these blizzards of dust rolled across the city, reducing visibility to three feet. It was followed immediately by a thunderstorm that killed more people in flash flooding and paralyzed a seven-mile stretch of the Long Island Rail Road in Brooklyn and Queens with lightning that set the wooden ties on fire. An estimated 350,000 New Yorkers who had crowded the beach at Coney Island for some respite from the murderous heat were sent scrambling for cover. The heat had been so bad that the cops gave up arresting the thousands of men who wore “shirtless bathing suits,” still a misdemeanor offense against public decency in 1934.
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Where Jimmy Walker had seemed the perfect mayor for New York in the capricious 1920s, he proved perfectly incapable of dealing with the city’s monumental problems in the 1930s. As the Depression ravaged the city in 1930 and 1931, he hid in what was in effect his own private speakeasy, Central Park’s Casino, while a couple of thousand homeless people erected a shanty Hooverville nearby in the park. In his defense, aid to the city’s needy had always been the province of private charities more than the municipal government. They pitched in now, but the scale of need soon overtaxed their resources, and the mayor did little to help.


Jimmy had to go. He would be forced to resign in 1932, to be followed by a mayor who seemed his complete opposite in most every way possible.


Something similar could be said for President Herbert Hoover. He’d first come to international fame during the Great War as a humanitarian, the organizer of crucial relief programs for ravaged Europe. He was a staunch but not hidebound Republican, a believer in free enterprise and individual achievement, and as secretary of commerce through most of the 1920s he’d tried to keep the government out of the way of the decade’s fantastic economic boom. He was in the White House less than a year when it all came crashing down. Although he responded with some proto–New Deal public works programs like the Hoover Dam, he was inclined to hope that businessmen and bankers would figure out on their own how to correct the plunging economy. They did not. In the summer of 1932 he appeared to be hiding in the White House when the “Bonus Army,” more than forty thousand Great War veterans and their families, camped out in Washington to demand benefits they felt were owed them. When the president let General Douglas MacArthur, along with officers including Dwight Eisenhower and George Patton, attack the camp with tanks and cavalry, killing two veterans, he condemned himself to lose the election that fall. Like Mayor Walker in New York, Hoover was succeeded by a man who couldn’t have been or acted more unlike him.

















CHAPTER 2



Gotham Goes to Washington



The Roosevelts were as Old New York as a family could get. They traced their line back to a van Rosenvelt who came to New Amsterdam in the 1640s. Over time the family tree split into two branches: one in Oyster Bay on Long Island, the other in Hyde Park up the Hudson. Teddy and his niece Eleanor were Oyster Bay and Franklin was Hyde Park. Oyster Bay Roosevelts had been Republican since Lincoln, while the Hyde Park clan were old-line Democrats. Teddy’s progressive politics struck the aloof Hyde Park clan as déclassé—except for Franklin, who greatly admired and emulated his cousin. As Franklin rose to power, the Oyster Bay clan grew increasingly resentful.


Franklin’s mother, Sara, was a Delano, another old family, sprung from Plymouth Rock Pilgrims. His father, James, was a quarter century older than she when they made their dynastic union in 1880. Franklin was born two years later. He grew up like an English lord, pampered and privileged, surrounded by tutors and Swedish and German servants. (No Irish or Negroes—James would not have them.) Franklin spent little time among people his age until he went off to Groton and then Harvard, where he was neither especially popular nor academically successful. He never did learn how to have really close friends, and he would always treat even his most respected colleagues and advisers with a patrician’s unthinking condescension.


When James died in 1900 Sara focused all her fierce love and domineering will on her only son. Franklin was totally dependent on her financially, and would be until she died in 1941, when he was in his third term as president.


Eleanor was born in New York City, in 1884, to parents who, for all their wealth and rank, were doomed to a short, unhappy life together. Her father, Elliott, was Teddy’s younger brother. Unlike Teddy, Elliott never found a purpose in life and struggled with alcoholism and melancholia. Eleanor’s mother, Anna, was also Old New York, descended from Livingstons and Ludlows. She was a beauty who took it as a personal affront that her daughter was so homely and grave—“a very ugly little girl,” Eleanor later said of herself. Anna called Eleanor Granny and mocked her for her lack of looks and grace. Anna died of diphtheria at the age of only twenty-nine, when Eleanor was eight. Elliott drank himself to death two years later.


Taken in by her mother’s dour family, the orphaned Eleanor remained a painfully shy loner until she bloomed at finishing school near London. She returned to New York City in 1902 a cultivated seventeen-year-old of elegant manners, though still stiflingly insecure. Her uncle Teddy had recently become president following the assassination of William McKinley. Eleanor followed his reformist example, joining the Junior League, working at a settlement house for immigrant children on Rivington Street on the Lower East Side, getting involved in workplace issues.


Then her cousin Franklin started courting her. Though they’d known each other since they were toddlers, his advances caught her by surprise. She was guarded and skeptical. But he was looking ahead and felt he needed a smart, conscientious, and reliable partner. On meeting Franklin in 1933, Oliver Wendell Holmes Jr. would famously judge that FDR possessed a “first-class temperament” but a “second-class intellect.” To his credit, Roosevelt was smart enough to understand this about himself, and to surround himself with people he thought were brighter or wiser than he was. Eleanor was one of the first. She came with an intellectual gravitas and awareness of social issues he lacked. For example, she took him to the Lower East Side, where he was shocked to see for the first time how the poor lived. He knew she was good for him. He could, and would, have prettier, more fun girls on the side.


Franklin’s mother Sara was displeased and jealous. She fought hard against Eleanor’s intrusion before giving in, and the cousins were married in 1905. Franklin was living in New York City by then, attending Columbia Law School. After passing the bar he worked a couple of desultory years as a clerk at a Wall Street law firm and tried his hand, erratically and disastrously, at investing. Children Anna and James, always called Jimmy, were born in the house where Eleanor and Franklin were then living on East 36th Street. In 1908 Sara gave them the town house at 49 East 65th Street as a Christmas present. She moved into 47, connected to 49 on every floor by sliding doors. She dominated the joint households, making Eleanor feel like a guest. Eleanor and Franklin would live there, on and off, until he went to the White House in the spring of 1933; they would sell both houses after Sara died in 1941.


In 1910 Franklin was elected to the state senate, and Eleanor was relieved to go, without Sara, to Albany. In 1913 Woodrow Wilson appointed Roosevelt an assistant secretary of the navy. In that capacity he was at the Brooklyn Navy Yard in 1914 when the keel was laid for the battleship USS Arizona, launched the following year.


In 1918 Eleanor discovered Franklin’s romance with Lucy Mercer, her pretty former social secretary. She could not have been surprised—his flirtatious ways and a certain deviousness had worried her since their honeymoon—but she was devastated nonetheless. She threatened divorce, which would have killed his political career. Although she never left him, and they remained supportive political partners, it was the start of their living separate lives. Feeling betrayed and rejected by her husband, Eleanor developed close, loving relationships with several women. Among her closest friends were a Greenwich Village couple deeply involved in women’s politics, Nancy Cook and Marion Dickerman. Eleanor, Nancy, and Marion were a trio for fifteen years, to the chagrin of her Oyster Bay relatives. But Franklin—who was spending much more private time with a new secretary, Missy LeHand, than with his semi-estranged wife—approved. He built the three women a stone cottage at Hyde Park, where they lived together for a few years. Eleanor would keep a foothold in Greenwich Village. From 1933 to 1942 she had a pied-à-terre at 20 East 11th Street. Then she bought another apartment in the Village, at 29 Washington Square West, which would be her city residence in the first few years after Franklin’s death in 1945. Her last Manhattan home would be at 55 East 74th Street on the Upper East Side.


Roosevelt was chosen as the running mate of the Democratic presidential candidate James Cox in 1920. They were thrashed by Warren Harding and Calvin Coolidge. The following year, he was struck down by polio, paralyzed below the waist. In 1924 he visited Warm Springs, a spa in Georgia built around a mineral pool. He’d heard about its therapeutic powers from its owner, George Foster Peabody. Born in Georgia and raised in Brooklyn, Peabody had become wealthy on Wall Street, while involving himself in Democratic politics in New York State. He bought the rather dilapidated spa in 1923, then sold it to Roosevelt.


In 1924, the crippled Roosevelt struggled to the lectern at the Democratic National Convention in Madison Square Garden (which was then actually on Madison Square, soon to move uptown) to nominate for president New York’s governor Al Smith. Smith, a cigar-chomping Irish Catholic and Tammany Hall leader who had worked his way up from the Lower East Side, could not have been more different from Roosevelt socially. Smith liked to tell a bitterly humorous story about the first time he called on Roosevelt at his mansion back in 1911, and the butler didn’t want to let him in the door. But they shared some progressive political ideas. The delegates leapt to their feet and roared when Roosevelt called Smith “the happy warrior”—then they nominated someone else.


Four years later, Roosevelt put Smith forward again, this time successfully. At the same time, Smith suggested that Roosevelt run to follow him as governor. Roosevelt stumped around all sixty-two counties of the state seated in an open touring car. Traveling with him, filling him in on local politics and helping him write his speeches, was the state assemblyman Samuel Rosenman. Born to Russian Jewish immigrants in Texas, he’d grown up in New York City, graduated from Columbia Law, and been in the assembly as a non-Tammany Democrat since 1922. He would remain a friend and adviser until Roosevelt’s death.


On election night they were all at campaign headquarters at the Biltmore Hotel (which, with the Commodore and the Roosevelt, towered over Grand Central, forming the complex they called Terminal City). They witnessed Smith’s crushing defeat at the hands of Herbert Hoover. Roosevelt, however, was elected governor.


Covering Roosevelt’s 1928 campaign, the accomplished Associated Press reporter Lorena Hickok met and fell in love with Eleanor, and Eleanor reciprocated. Hickok, whom Eleanor called Hick, quit her job because she couldn’t write objectively about the Roosevelts anymore. She and Eleanor would be companions for thirty years, with Hick enjoying a small bedroom in the White House for much of the Roosevelts’ time there. In 1934, Time snarkily described her as “a rotund lady with a husky voice, a peremptory manner, [and] baggy clothes” who “has gone around a lot with the First Lady.”
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While Mayor Walker hid from the Depression in New York City, in Albany Governor Roosevelt took an active approach. As he would do in the White House, he put some smart, dedicated people on the job and gave them what they needed to get things done in a hurry.


One of them was Frances Perkins. Born in Boston, she was twenty-nine when she moved to New York City in 1909 to get her master’s in political science at Columbia. As director of the New York Consumers League, she lobbied in Albany for a fifty-four-hour workweek for women and youth, forming an alliance with Lower East Side assemblyman Al Smith and the state senator Robert Wagner. In 1911 she was at a party on Washington Square when the Triangle Shirtwaist fire broke out nearby and 146 workers, mostly women and girls, died horribly. Smith and Wagner chaired a state investigation that led to the Committee on Safety, and hired Perkins as its chief officer in 1912. Together they got dozens of new laws on worker safety passed in the next few years.


In 1926, Governor Al Smith appointed her to chair the state’s Industrial Commission. Roosevelt kept her on when he became governor. When the Depression hit, Perkins suggested that he start statewide public works programs to provide New Yorkers with at least temporary jobs. In 1931 Governor Roosevelt doubled the state income tax to fund the $20 million Temporary Emergency Relief Administration (TERA), the first and largest state program of its type. A man named Harry Hopkins was tapped to run it. It was the start of a Roosevelt-Hopkins partnership that would last until Roosevelt’s death.


Although thin and unhealthy from childhood, Harry Hopkins would always keep his wan candle blazing at both ends. He lived on coffee and Lucky Strikes, worked with an incandescent energy that astounded everyone who met him, then partied just as energetically, a man who loved days at the track and nights hobnobbing in swanky clubs with the wealthy and celebrated. By his early forties it was clear to all his friends and colleagues that he was working and playing himself into an early grave. He seemed to know it too, which made him a man in a great hurry.


He was born in 1890 and grew up in Grinnell, Iowa. He inherited equal parts of his father, Al, a harness salesman who liked to gamble and party, and his Methodist mother, Anna, who took seriously her Christian duty to help the less fortunate. At the Congregationalist Grinnell College, where he majored in political science and history, Hopkins, like his older sister Adah, took to heart the tenets of the Social Gospel, which sent waves of idealistic young Protestants to settlement houses in big-city slums to labor for the betterment of the poor. On graduating in 1912 he followed Adah to Manhattan’s Lower East Side to work at the Christodora (“Gift of Christ”) House on Avenue B facing Tompkins Square Park. He was stunned to see the wretched poverty in the neighborhood’s overstuffed tenements, the most crowded immigrant enclave in the country. In 1913 he married Ethel Gross, a Jewish girl from the neighborhood. They had three sons who would all serve in the military during the war. In the late 1920s Hopkins would start an affair with a coworker; Ethel divorced him in 1931 and he married his lover Barbara Duncan a month later.


From the Christodora, Hopkins moved on to the Association for Improving the Condition of the Poor, the oldest and most respected welfare charity in the city, and then to the American Red Cross. He was directing the New York Tuberculosis and Health Association when Perkins and Governor Roosevelt asked him to take on TERA. Within its first few months, Hopkins had spent all the money Roosevelt gave him, providing aid to 1.2 million New Yorkers—a tenth of the population—and creating public works jobs for eighty thousand.
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Sam Rosenman is credited with coining the term “New Deal.” It was in a line from Roosevelt’s acceptance speech of the Democratic presidential nomination in 1932: “I pledge you, I pledge myself, to a new deal for the American people.” Given the pervasive anti-Semitism of the era, had Americans known the slogan came from a New York Jew they might not have embraced it as warmly as they did.


It was also Rosenman who suggested that candidate Roosevelt recruit a circle of respected intellectuals from various fields to advise him. The original group was heavy with Columbia professors, including Raymond Moley and Adolf Berle (pronounced Burly), who both taught law, and agriculture professor Rexford Tugwell. A Times writer sarcastically called the group Roosevelt’s “brains trust”—often rendered brain trust—as more and more intellectuals, many from New York, joined it.


Roosevelt rewarded Rosenman by appointing him, at the age of thirty-six, a justice of the Supreme Court of the State of New York. That job would keep Rosenman busy through FDR’s first term in the White House, but as the 1936 election approached Roosevelt would bring Rosenman back into the fold to help him craft his speeches and campaign positions.


Roosevelt crushed Hoover in the 1932 election. At the same time, his lieutenant governor, Herbert Lehman, was elected to follow him in the governor’s mansion. Lehman, the first Jewish governor of New York, would serve through 1942. His father was one of the Lehman Brothers of the Wall Street investment firm. Lehman’s Republican opponent was a Word War I hero, William “Wild Bill” Donovan. Born in 1883 and raised in a middle-class Irish Catholic home in Buffalo, Donovan first encountered Franklin Roosevelt when they were classmates at Columbia Law School. In 1916, before the United States entered the Great War, he toured the front lines as a thirty-three-year-old lawyer representing the Rockefeller Foundation’s War Relief Commission, which shipped food and clothing to citizens in countries ravaged by the conflict. When America did enter the war in 1917 Donovan joined New York City’s famed 69th Regiment, the Fighting Irish. Lieutenant Colonel Donovan led his men with great courage through some of the bloodiest battles of 1918, earning a Medal of Honor and a chestful of others, plus his nickname, and celebrity status back home.


In the 1920s Donovan’s celebrity propelled him up the ranks of the national Republican Party, but his Catholicism prevented him from getting higher than a stint in D.C. as an assistant attorney general in the criminal division. A young J. Edgar Hoover, a future rival, worked under him there. In 1932 Donovan, about to turn fifty, was running a prosperous law office at 2 Wall Street and living in a grand Beekman Place duplex staffed with live-in servants, when state Republicans invited him to challenge Lehman. Donovan fought hard, denouncing Roosevelt as “a new kind of red, white and blue dictator” and Lehman as his “Siamese twin,” but he lost. He would cross paths with Roosevelt again, and in a very different way, a few years later.
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In February 1933, the president-elect summoned Frances Perkins to his East 65th Street home and asked her to be his secretary of labor, making her the first female cabinet member in history. She had barely gotten settled in Washington when Hopkins took a train down to meet with her. He presented a plan to re-create New York’s jobs program on a national scale. She presented it to the president, who had it put to the Democrat-controlled Congress as one of the fifteen major bills he pushed through in his legendary first one hundred days in office, kickstarting the New Deal. In May Congress passed the Federal Emergency Relief Act, and Roosevelt brought Hopkins to Washington to run it.


The typical Washington administrator might have spent weeks setting up an office, assembling a staff, and having meetings. Hopkins found an unmanned desk in an empty room, sat down, and in his first two hours on the job authorized more than $5 million in relief. In a capital city used to turgid bureaucracy, his head-spinning hurry made headlines. Once, when Hopkins was told one of his programs would likely get funded “in the long run,” he snapped, “People don’t eat in the long run, they eat every day.” He would come to be known as Roosevelt’s “minister of relief.”


Hopkins believed that Americans didn’t want handouts, they wanted jobs. In the fall of 1933 he got FDR’s backing for a short-term jobs program, the Civil Works Administration. He invited another New Yorker down to Washington to help him design the program: the newly elected mayor Fiorello La Guardia.

















CHAPTER 3



New Deal New York



Five-foot-two, shaped like a barrel, and fond of oversize cowboy hats, Fiorello La Guardia cut a comical public figure, the Lou Costello of politics. But the barrel was stuffed with dynamite that could explode at any instant into rage, into laughter, or just into manic rushing around. He was generally a friend to the poor and downtrodden, but to his staff he was an autocrat and slave driver who could be viciously insulting and abusive. People called him Butch and the Little Flower, but also Mussolini and Napoleon. Matching towering ambition, a limitless ego, and a motor always running at top speed, he was convinced there was no issue or problem, from the minuscule to the global, that he could not personally solve. In his early mayoral years he raced tirelessly around the city—smashing slot machines, padlocking burlesque houses, dashing into burning buildings, cutting ribbons, and tongue-lashing Tammany clock-watchers—until people joked there was not one mayor but several identical ones. Later, he would foil himself with his attempts to run the biggest city in the world while simultaneously participating and kibitzing in national and international affairs. By the end of World War II he would have exhausted himself nearly to the last atom.


He was born in Greenwich Village in 1882. His father was a musician from Foggia, in southern Italy, and a nonpracticing Catholic; his mother was from Trieste, then part of the Austro-Hungarian Empire, and from a highly respected Jewish family. They had three children: Gemma, Fiorello, and Richard.


When Fiorello was three his father became a U.S. Army bandleader and they left New York City for a succession of army bases, mostly in Arizona, which was still the Wild West. Fiorello would wear black Stetsons and string ties the rest of his life. At sixteen he followed his father to Tampa, where the army was massing for the invasion of Cuba in the short-lived Spanish-American War. When his father took sick—Fiorello blamed the tinned army beef, nicknamed “embalmed beef” by the soldiers—the family left the United States for Trieste. His father never recovered and died in 1904. At eighteen Fiorello got a job as a clerk and translator in the American consulate in Fiume. He developed at least some fluency in half a dozen languages, including Yiddish, a skill that would serve him well in New York City.


He returned to New York in 1906, leaving his mother and older sister in Fiume, and got a job processing immigrants at Ellis Island. He studied law at night at NYU and took flying lessons on Long Island from the famed aircraft designer Giuseppe Bellanca. He ran for Congress as a progressive Republican in 1914, lost, but won two years later.


When the United States entered the Great War in 1917 Congressman La Guardia volunteered as a pilot and was sent to an Italian airfield near his father’s hometown. He flew bombing missions over German and Austrian troops, survived a potentially deadly crash, had a medal pinned on his chest by King Victor Emmanuel III, and was hailed in the American press as the Flying Congressman. In 1918 the thirty-six-year-old assistant secretary of the navy Franklin Roosevelt went to Italy to ask for the Italian navy’s assistance in fighting the German U-boats that were preying on Allied shipping. Stepping off a train he was met by Captain La Guardia. As very different as they were, the two men liked each other; later, when they were both much more powerful figures, they would fondly tell the story of this first meeting.


After the war La Guardia returned to Congress. In 1929 he tried to unseat Jimmy Walker, but his railing against Tammany corruption fell on deaf ears and Walker was reelected in the biggest landslide in the city’s history. Then the Depression hit. While the catastrophe spread and the mayor hid, reform groups such as the City Affairs Committee pressured Governor Roosevelt until he appointed a blue ribbon commission to investigate what everyone already knew: that Walker’s administration was putrid with fantastic levels of graft and corruption. Roosevelt convinced Jimmy to resign in September 1932. Tammany’s John P. O’Brien won a special election to keep the mayor’s chair warm until the next election in November 1933.


La Guardia chose to run again that year. He’d lost his congressional seat in the backlash against Hoover’s Republicans that swept the country in 1932 and was available for a new job. To go up against a Tammany mayor in 1933 he joined the new City Fusion Party, a multiethnic, multiparty stew of Republicans and Socialists, wealthy WASPs and poor immigrants, Jews and Catholics and Protestants, Greenwich Village bohemians and renegade Democrats—all brought together by the common goal of ending Tammany’s reign. La Guardia began the campaign with an enthusiastic rally at Cooper Union and ended it with a speech at Madison Square Garden—which by then had moved to Eighth Avenue between 49th and 50th Streets. He drew a crowd of at least fifty thousand. That was thirty thousand more than the venue could seat, so loudspeakers carried the event to a throng outside. An all-female band played “Who’s Afraid of the Big Bad Wolf?” to which the crowd sang “Who’s afraid of Tam-man-y?” On Eighth Avenue, the crowd scuffled with a passing parade of five hundred Tammany supporters. When La Guardia took the stage the crowd inside let out a roar that rattled the rafters. La Guardia beat O’Brien with almost 870,000 votes split fairly equally between Republican and Fusion voters.
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In January 1934 La Guardia took over a city mired deep in Depression misery. But he had extremely powerful friends in Washington—Perkins, Hopkins, the president himself. FDR and La Guardia had similar ideas about government’s responsibility to the people, and similarly expansive views of their power to make their government do what they wanted it to do. Only their managerial styles were different—La Guardia shouted and screamed, Roosevelt smiled and schemed.


Except in wartime, Washington had rarely gotten involved in municipal affairs. Now cities around the country were approaching bankruptcy and finding that their state governments, many of them more geared to rural than urban policy, were of no help. Mayors had formed the U.S. Conference of Mayors as an organized vehicle for appeals to the federal government. La Guardia vaulted to the head of the group, acting as its spokesman and direct link to the White House.


Harry Hopkins listened closely to La Guardia’s ideas about the Civil Works Administration. La Guardia returned to New York with a couple hundred thousand short-term CWA jobs and put New Yorkers to work in the winter of 1934 repairing parks and waterfront and public buildings that had fallen into near ruin during the previous decades of Tammany neglect. They also razed slums to make space for the first public housing developments in the city’s history.


Despite the alphabet soup of New Deal programs Roosevelt threw at it—the CWA, the CCC (Civilian Conservation Corps), FERA (Federal Emergency Relief Administration), PWA (the Public Works Administration), NRA (National Recovery Administration) et al.—the Depression ground on through the mid-1930s. Buoyed by the 1934 midterm elections in which the Democrats expanded their dominance in Congress, Hopkins told his staff, “Boys, this is our hour. We’ve got to get everything we want—a works program, social security, wages and hours, everything—now or never.” Early in 1935, Roosevelt approved Hopkins’s sweeping new jobs program, the Works Progress Administration, a larger and longer-term successor to the Civil Works Administration.


The WPA became one of the most visible of New Deal programs, and Hopkins the most championed and attacked New Deal administrator. In its first year it provided nearly three million jobs, and over its lifetime it employed eight million. Not everyone agreed this was a good thing. Republicans denounced it as creeping socialism and charged that many of the jobs were useless make-work. The recently-coined term “boondoggle” was soon applied.


In New York City, Mayor La Guardia and his parks commissioner Robert Moses pounced. They made the best team in the country for acquiring WPA funds and putting them to use, even though their egos clashed like continents. Monstrously arrogant and convinced of his superiority to nearly everyone he met, Moses was born in 1888 into a privileged household of prosperous uptown German Jews and educated at Yale, Oxford, and Columbia. Looking around the dirty, chaotic New York City of the 1910s, stuffed to bursting with wretchedly poor immigrants and being run into the ground by the tremendously corrupt Tammany Hall machine, the young Moses envisioned an entirely different city, a clean and well-ordered metropolis of gleaming residential and commercial towers, reaching out to sprawling suburbs and vast parks through an arterial network of parkways, expressways, and waterways. Then he set out to build it. He became a brilliant bureaucratic tactician, and by La Guardia’s time he was creating his own nearly autonomous empire of multiple agencies, a power base easily rivaling the mayor’s. He saw La Guardia as at best a helpmeet in realizing his grand plans for the city. They fought every time they met. “Someday I’m going to hit that son of a bitch and knock him through that door,” La Guardia once said of Moses, whom he sarcastically called His Grace. Moses referred to the mayor as “that dago son of a bitch” and Rigoletto. Moses’s utter lack of tact helped doom his one campaign for political office. In 1934, in the midst of working with La Guardia, he made a quixotic and failed run against Herbert Lehman for the governorship.


While Moses had a small army of architects and engineers crank out project applications, the city rented La Guardia an apartment in D.C. to facilitate frequent trips to the White House. “He comes to Washington and tells me a sad story,” the president once said with a laugh. “The tears run down my cheeks and the tears run down his cheeks and the first thing I know, he has wangled another fifty million dollars.” Soon New York City was filling so many jobs and receiving so much funding—almost a tenth of the WPA’s national total—that Hopkins declared it the forty-ninth state and gave it its own WPA administration. To run it, Hopkins sent Lieutenant Colonel Brehon Somervell of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers to the city. He was an Arkansas-born West Pointer who in his youth had served in the expedition against Pancho Villa and in France during the Great War. He would direct the city’s WPA programs until 1940, then oversee a massive buildup of defense facilities around the country, including the Pentagon, as well as the start of the Manhattan Project.


Working with Somervell, La Guardia and Moses used WPA support to put thousands to work building or improving hospitals and post offices, schools and firehouses, beaches and parks, the Prospect Park and Staten Island zoos, the Bronx–Whitestone Bridge, and the New York Municipal Airport, later renamed for La Guardia. The airport was La Guardia’s “baby,” his wife said. It had rankled him that the greatest city in the world did not have a viable commercial airport. The nearest were in Newark and Floyd Bennett Field out near Coney Island, often fogged in and considered too far away to serve New York City well. The site La Guardia chose was North Beach, Queens, home of the small Glenn Curtiss Airport. It was just across the East River from Manhattan and, not coincidentally, a stone’s throw from Flushing Meadows, where the 1939 world’s fair would be. FDR, a promoter of commercial aviation, supported the mayor with $27 million in federal funds and thousands of WPA workers, who at peak construction periods labored around the clock in eight-hour shifts. La Guardia came by to watch their progress so often that smiling workers took to handing him their tools. They made the longest runway in the world at the time (6,000 feet) and beautiful art deco terminals. The airport opened in December 1939, too late for the first season of the world’s fair. It was soon the busiest airport in the world, handling two hundred flights a day; coming and going, passengers would get spectacular aerial views of the fair’s iconic Trylon and Perisphere.
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The WPA also included a relatively small but highly visible and controversial component for arts funding, a program called Federal Project Number One—or “Federal One” for short. By the end of 1936 it employed some forty thousand artists, musicians, writers, and theater workers around the country. In New York, Colonel Somervell made it quite clear he had no patience for wrangling arts workers into some semblance of bureaucratic order. Many were used to lives of bohemian excess and license; some, especially among the writers, treated heavy drinking as a mark of their profession. Added to all that, the leftist ideals in much of the work they created for Federal One made it an easy target for conservatives at the newspapers and in Congress.


Directed by Holger Cahill, a curator at the new Museum of Modern Art (opened in 1929), the Federal Art Project created jobs for some five thousand visual artists. In New York it put bread on the table for a generation of young artists who would go on to make the city the art capital of the Western world after the war, including Jackson Pollock, Lee Krasner, Willem de Kooning, Mark Rothko, and Arshile Gorky. New York City had the highest concentration of writers in the country, so Hopkins gave them the Federal Writers’ Project.


The Federal Theatre Project was the most controversial of the Federal One programs. As the Depression deepened, more and more Broadway theaters went dark or were taken over as burlesque houses, until La Guardia started closing those as well. From employing something like twenty-five thousand people before the crash, Broadway sank to around three thousand. Another thirteen thousand theater workers around the country were idled. Harry Hopkins asked the New York playwright Elmer Rice if he knew someone who could run a program to put some of those people back to work. Born Elmer Reizenstein on East 90th Street in 1892, Rice had written the gigantic 1929 hit Street Scene, a realistic drama about tenement life in New York, which earned him a Pulitzer and was adapted as a film and later an opera, with music by Kurt Weill and lyrics by Langston Hughes. He referred Hopkins to Hallie Flanagan, who was teaching theater at Vassar up in Poughkeepsie. As it happened, Hopkins and Flanagan had been classmates and friends at Grinnell College. In August 1935 Flanagan was sworn in as the project’s director, and she brought Rice on to help.


By January 1936 the FTP had hired nearly ten thousand theater workers around the country, some thirty-five hundred in New York City alone. But the program got off to a bumpy start. A pet project of Rice’s, a ripped-from-the-headlines production condemning Mussolini’s recent invasion of Ethiopia, was about to open in New York when the White House killed it, fearing the diplomatic fallout. It was a public relations fiasco for Flanagan, and Rice quit in a huff. Joseph Losey, a Communist sympathizer and later party member, directed a couple of productions marked by down-with-capitalism up-with-the-workers cant that drew the attention of Congress. The New York Times complained that the “Moscow stylization of writing and staging” reduced the shows to “adolescent gibberish,” while William Randolph Hearst’s conservative Journal attacked Hopkins for funding a “Communist-infested” program.
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The WPA was also attacked from the left. In February 1936 a left-leaning New York City congressman managed to get himself roughed up and arrested by the NYPD for protesting the way the WPA was run under La Guardia’s “Mussolini-like administration.” To make matters worse, he had been a devoted protégé and aide to La Guardia.


Vito Marcantonio was born in a tenement in Italian East Harlem on East 112th Street. His father, a carpenter, was killed by a streetcar when Vito was a boy. After graduating from NYU Law School in 1925, Vito went to work for Congressman La Guardia, who was very fond of him. Marcantonio managed La Guardia’s failed reelection campaign in 1932 and stumped hard for his election to mayor the following year. In 1934, with the mayor’s backing, the thirty-one-year-old Marcantonio won La Guardia’s old congressional seat as a Republican-Fusion candidate. He cut an odd figure in Washington, a small man—the press habitually described him as “diminutive,” “slight,” “spidery”—with a New Yawker’s nasal voice and nervous hands, given to a cartoon gangster’s fedoras and wide-striped suits. He was also a maverick, argumentative and combative, the bane of both parties, and so pro-labor, antimilitary, and soak-the-rich that most people just assumed he was, as one opponent put it, a “Communist stooge.”


At a WPA protest rally in Madison Square Park, Marcantonio railed that La Guardia had shown his back to the little man he once championed. “A billion dollars for war and the munitions makers, but not one cent for the unemployed, starving workers!” he cried. It was inaccurate and nonsensical, but it fired up his thousands of listeners. He was trying to lead them in a march, without a police permit, across town to the WPA’s offices when the cops moved in and, according to the Herald Tribune, Marcantonio was “cuffed, kicked, and thrown into a police wagon” with eleven others. The police commissioner Lewis Valentine released them all later that day. His blood still up, Marcantonio challenged Valentine to meet him “alone in a gymnasium.” Valentine scoffed that he’d meet him “with a flit-gun,” adding, “This is just another evidence of what happens when you elect a boy to do a man’s job.” La Guardia—who, after all, was no stranger to outbursts of populist theatrics himself—treated the incident as a fit of pique from a beloved wayward son. He merely asked him “to refrain from such conduct in the future.” Marcantonio would lose his reelection bid that fall, but it was far from the end of his career.


As Roosevelt’s own first reelection drew near, the WPA and especially Federal One made soft targets for his critics. The Times contrasted the solid achievements of the WPA’s public works projects in the city—a hundred new playgrounds, more than one hundred miles of new roadways, eleven new public swimming pools, new traffic lights, new piers—to the arts programs, whose “usefulness has been widely doubted,” and where the “boondoggling… tends to bring the engineering projects into discredit with it.” To the Times, Federal One looked like preferential make-work for artists. “If unemployed tap dancers must be given Government jobs at tap dancing, why shouldn’t the Government open new banks to give jobs to unemployed bank clerks?”


Bending to the criticism, Roosevelt ordered the WPA’s overall budget cut by a quarter, and Federal One’s by a third. In New York City, two thousand Federal One arts workers were laid off. They didn’t take it quietly. More than two hundred artists barricaded themselves inside the Federal Art Project offices on East 39th Street. When a squadron of seventy-five policemen broke in the artists still refused to leave. The cops’ batons came out, seven people were injured, and 219 artists were carted off to the Tombs. Two doors down, writers occupied the seventeenth-floor offices of the Writers’ Project. Theater workers occupied the FTP offices as well. Colonel Somervell went to Washington, where he asked that funding for the public works programs be restored—but not Federal One. Artists marched in the streets carrying signs like “MERRY CHRISTMAS/ WISH YOU WELL/ HERE’S YOUR PINK SLIP/ SOMERVELL.”


To quell the strife, La Guardia too went to Washington and worked his magic on Roosevelt. Somehow, in the end, the Federal One roster for the city actually went up from 10,560 employees to 10,566.
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As early as the spring of 1934, Harry Hopkins had worked and played himself to exhaustion and an ulcer, the first signs of his physical decline. Roosevelt was genuinely concerned. Hopkins was proving to be not only his most trusted and loyal assistant but the nearest Roosevelt came to a close friend.


Hopkins had one quality Roosevelt found indispensable. Roosevelt’s warm, charming affect was a dazzling facade behind which he hid his feelings and agendas. He was a master of misdirection. In meetings he was notoriously vague, discursive, and evasive. He had a way of nodding and smiling, as though he agreed with everything everyone in the meeting said, without actually committing himself to anything. New Yorker Henry Stimson, FDR’s secretary of war through World War II, would complain in his diary that meeting with FDR was like “chasing a vagrant beam of sunshine around a vacant room.” The journalist John Gunther observed, “I never met anyone who showed a greater capacity for avoiding a direct answer while giving the questioner a feeling he had been answered.” His vice president Harry Truman would flat out call him a liar.


Hopkins, though, as Churchill later wrote, “always went to the root of the matter.” With his restless need to get things done and make things happen, Hopkins cut through any red tape or obstructionism that got in his way. He was one of the few people in FDR’s inner circle who could focus his wandering attention and clarify his vague intentions. Hopkins’s impatience with dithering bureaucrats and posturing politicians earned him many enemies in Washington but made him indispensable to FDR for twelve years. People would take to calling him the deputy president or assistant president. He was also called the “Shadow,” because he went everywhere Roosevelt did. Time would rate him “the second most powerful man in America,” and a senator once cracked, “If Roosevelt ever becomes Jesus Christ, he should have Harry Hopkins as his prophet.”


In the spring of 1934, Roosevelt sent Hopkins and his wife on a long European trip to get some rest. But—and this was typical of how Roosevelt treated even his closest friends—not too much rest. He asked Hopkins to visit U.S. embassies in Europe and report his assessments of their staffs. The Hopkinses were in Europe that summer when Adolf Hitler had his first meeting with Benito Mussolini, purged the Nazi Party of Ernst Röhm and his SA leaders in the “night of the long knives,” and further consolidated his power as Führer. Hopkins tried and failed to get an audience with the Führer, but he did meet Mussolini and reported his impressions of it all to FDR. He would make many more such trips for his wheelchair-bound boss in the coming years.


In 1937 both Barbara and Harry Hopkins would be diagnosed with cancer. She died that year, while surgeons at the Mayo Clinic removed two-thirds of Harry’s stomach. He would return to Mayo for more treatments in 1939, and he remained in ill health for what was left of his life, anemic, unable to properly absorb nutrients, often exhausted. Yet he remained an unstoppable worker for his boss, never hesitating to further damage his health to carry out any assignment or task Roosevelt handed him. As much as FDR worried for Harry, the president would come close more than once to working him to death.

















CHAPTER 4



Franklin Rosenfeld of Jew York City



When Roosevelt entered the White House, there were more Jews in the United States—about 4.2 million—than in any other country in the world. About 1.75 million of them lived in New York City, far more than in any other city in the world. The next four largest Jewish communities combined—in Chicago, Warsaw, Budapest, and Vienna—didn’t add up to New York’s. It was not uncommon for Americans elsewhere to call it Jew York.


It followed that among the New Yorkers whom FDR attracted to Washington there were a number of Jews. During his twelve years in office he put Jews in his cabinet, his brains trust, on the Supreme Court, at other places of power around his administration. Jews had never been more influential or visible.


What’s remarkable is that he did this at the same time that anti-Semitism was not only boiling into genocidal rage in Germany but peaking in America as well. The more power and influence Jews achieved in the 1930s, the more some Americans feared they were “taking control.”


Anti-Semitism permeated American society in the 1930s. Its expressions ranged from mild prejudice to acts of violence. A 1938 Roper poll asked Americans, “What kinds of people do you object to?” Jews topped the list at 35 percent. Even the sort of powerful Jews in FDR’s circle suffered frequent, insulting reminders that for all their success they were still, as the saying went, “not quite our sort.” Top universities and colleges maintained strict quotas on Jewish admissions; country clubs and patriotic organizations including New York’s Union Club barred them; Gentile employers limited how many Jews they hired, if any; intermarriage was severely discouraged. Even the progressive Eleanor Roosevelt once sniffed about an acquaintance acting too “Jewy.” Depression-fueled resentments and the spread of Nazi and Nazi-inspired hate literature in the 1930s heated up attitudes that had been simmering since the world war.


For appearing to favor Jews in his government, Franklin Roosevelt was called Franklin Rosenfeld, his New Deal the Jew Deal. Privately, he would never entirely evolve past his wealthy WASP upbringing, with its offhanded and no-harm-meant condescension in matters of race, color, and creed. Eleanor was always far more progressive in such matters. But just as the young Franklin had married Eleanor because he recognized in her qualities he lacked, President Roosevelt intuited that he needed to surround himself with the best and brightest he could get, whether they were Jewish, Catholic, Republicans, female, or black (at a time when Washington, D.C., was still segregated in many respects).
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New York’s Jews in the 1930s lived in two distinct and mutually rather exclusive communities. One community was Reform Jews, mostly of German descent. They’d begun immigrating to the city in the 1840s. Generally they’d been literate, sophisticated urbanites in Europe, and they were able gradually to ease their way in and up the social ladder in the city. They tended to be nonreligious or follow the Reform practices established by Rabbi Isaac Wise in the nineteenth century. Wise insisted that Jews were not a people, a nation, or a race, they just happened to share a form of worship. You couldn’t speak of a “Jewish race” any more than you could a “Presbyterian race.” German Jews were Germans, American Jews Americans, and so on. It followed that Wise considered the Zionist dream of a homeland for the Jewish people folly built on a false premise. By the 1930s these German descendants were the “uptown” Jews, living prosperously on the Upper West and Upper East Sides. They did their best to fit in with the WASPs around them. Some would change their names to ones that sounded less Jewish.


One distinct subset of German Jews in the 1930s were newcomers fleeing from the Nazis. By the start of the war they’d number some twenty thousand. They formed their own community in the far northern tip of Manhattan, in Washington Heights, where they came to represent about a tenth of the neighborhood’s total population. Because many of them were from the city of Frankfurt am Main and surrounding towns, Washington Heights came to be known as “Frankfurt on the Hudson.” Most of them had been fully assimilated in Germany, nonpracticing or Reform in religion, thinking of themselves as Germans first and Jews second. They were educated, liberal, and middle class. The first arrivals headed to Washington Heights because there was a small but well-established Jewish presence there already, and because it was less densely urban than the rest of Manhattan, more like where they’d lived all their lives. They acted as a magnet for the later immigrants. Although they clung to their German language and customs at first, they assimilated into American life quickly and took citizenship as soon as they could. They started small businesses and shops throughout the neighborhood. There would be no greater fans of FDR, and the young men among them would race to enlist in the armed services when the time came.


The second large group of Jews in New York were originally Yiddish-speaking, eastern European, Orthodox Jews. Nearly three quarters of the two and a half million of them who came to the United States from the 1880s to the mid-1920s got no farther than the Lower East Side of Manhattan. There they were mercilessly crowded into tiny rooms in the dark, crumbling tenements that lined streets such as Orchard and Hester, Ludlow and Rivington, Norfolk and Suffolk. The streets themselves were often impassable, with milling crowds seeking a little light and air, and with hundreds of pushcart peddlers selling fruit and vegetables, needles and pins, pocket watches and ties. (In the mid-1930s, Mayor La Guardia, sensitive about the ethnic stereotypes attached to both Jewish pushcart peddlers and Italian organ-grinders, began to clear the streets of both. The peddlers were moved into new municipal markets, the organ-grinders banned altogether.)


Poor, speaking little or no English, many of them country peasants back home, Orthodox Jews on the Lower East Side and in pockets in the other boroughs formed their own insular communities. The original immigrants (less so their New York–born children) were not particularly interested in assimilating into secular American life and therefore were less concerned about ingratiating themselves with Gentiles or upsetting anti-Semites. For some, America was just a stopover on the way to a Zionist homeland in Palestine. New York’s German Jews, both the older and the newer arrivals, tended to look down on them for their incomprehensible Yiddish, their deeply old-fashioned ways, and their reluctance to assimilate.


In the 1930s, despite the bubbling anti-Semitism, New York Jews achieved unprecedented levels of political prominence. The governor was Jewish. The mayor was Jewish on his mother’s side. In Washington, FDR’s circle included, along with Sam Rosenman, the Jewish New Yorkers Felix Frankfurter, Henry Morgenthau Jr., and, though at arm’s length, Bernard Baruch.


Born in Austria, Frankfurter had come to the Lower East Side with his family as a boy. After graduating from Harvard Law, he worked as an assistant to the U.S. attorney for the Southern District of New York (FDR’s future secretary of war Henry Stimson). He later joined the Harvard Law faculty, and he was one of the founders of the ACLU. He was a supporter of and adviser to President Roosevelt from the start, a brains truster who recommended many bright young people to the president, including Dean Acheson and Alger Hiss. In 1938 Roosevelt appointed him to the Supreme Court.


Born and raised in New York City, Henry Morgenthau Jr. was a disappointment to his father, a highly successful German Jewish real estate magnate. Henry Jr. was big and clumsy, crushingly shy and inarticulate, and a poor student, possibly dyslexic, who never finished college. With his father’s help he bought a farm in Dutchess County, making him a neighbor and friend to Franklin Roosevelt at nearby Hyde Park. He much preferred touring his apple orchards on horseback to working in the family business in Manhattan.


Many of his contemporaries believed him rather dim-witted. The Saturday Evening Post judged him “slow-thinking and slow-speaking,” Time called him “a real cold fish,” and in FDR’s administration he was nicknamed Henry the Morgue. When Roosevelt appointed him secretary of the treasury in 1934 it was joked that he had hired the one Jew in New York who knew nothing about money. But Morgenthau had two qualities that endeared him to Roosevelt: he was deeply devoted to his president and he got things done. He would capably manage billions in federal bond issues to fund the New Deal without raising taxes or interest rates.


Bernard Baruch was, as his biographer James Grant noted, a looming figure in the American mind in the 1930s, yet he was also a rather nebulous one. He was half New York Jew and half patrician Southern gentleman. He advised several presidents but often in no official capacity, preferring to float as an independent consultant. He possessed an Apollonian intellect and a satyr’s eye.


Baruch’s father, a Jewish doctor from Prussia, immigrated to South Carolina in 1855, served as a surgeon with the Confederate army in the war, and married a ruined plantation owner’s daughter. Bernard was born there in 1870, and when he was ten the family moved to New York City.


After graduating in 1891 from the College of the City of New York, at Lexington Avenue and East 24th Street—now site of Bernard M. Baruch College—he took a $3-a-week job running errands on Wall Street. He had grown to a towering, athletic six-foot-four, with blazing blue eyes and a sportily curled mustache. He was a sturdy amateur boxer with brains to match the brawn. He was extremely vain about it, but he had good reason, so most people forgave him. Men as well as women found him attractive; he would enjoy his fair share of the latter.


He also enjoyed gambling at cards, at the track, and on Wall Street. By 1897 he had done well enough at the last to buy his own seat on the Exchange. He’d made his first million by 1900, when a million dollars bought roughly twenty-five times what it does today. He piled more millions on that one and reveled in them. He owned racehorses, speedboats, and fast cars. To his Manhattan brownstone he added a baronial plantation in South Carolina, called Hobcaw, where his guests sipped mint juleps and murdered waterfowl in relaxed isolation—no telephone, though mail and telegrams were delivered. His wealth and success bought access to high levels of WASP society despite his being half Jewish; several of his WASP friends, who called him Barney, would say he was the least Jewish Jew they knew. Still, not every gentleman’s club or golf club would accept him no matter how many millions or Gentile friends he had.


During the Great War, Woodrow Wilson appointed him chair of the War Industries Board (WIB). The United States had entered the war in a state of drastic unpreparedness. The WIB brought together industrialists, military men, and labor leaders and tasked them with standardizing military hardware, speeding up production, and minimizing discord between industrial employers and workers.


When the war ended, Baruch sailed with the American delegation to the peace conference at Versailles, where he argued, unsuccessfully, against the vindictive reparations England and France wanted to impose on Germany, and, more successfully, he threw sumptuous parties that were still being talked about years later. When he sailed with Wilson’s party back to America, a flotilla of battleships and destroyers met their steamer at the New York harbor, banging off salutes. This was followed by a parade and a celebration at Carnegie Hall.


Baruch surfed the madly speculative stock market of the 1920s and held on to many of his millions when it crashed in 1929. Although Franklin Roosevelt was not his first choice for a Democratic candidate in 1932, he contributed generously to his campaign.


It says something about the era’s anti-Semitism that Baruch was always presumed to be more influential with FDR than he was in reality. When Roosevelt was elected it was widely assumed that Baruch was a shoo-in for a cabinet post, but he never got one. To Roosevelt and his inner circle, Baruch was “too luminous a figure,” best kept at a friendly distance. He would be in the cloud of experts surrounding the president, his advice sometimes heeded, just as often not. The idea also persisted that he was a chief architect of the New Deal, when in fact he thought it often gave the government too much power over the economy. As FDR rushed to build up America’s defenses from 1940 on, it again would be widely assumed that he would tap Baruch, with his WIB experience, to head one of his larger wartime agencies; again, he did not.


Yet the legend of Baruch’s shadowy power continued. The anti-Semitic demagogue Father Charles Coughlin would call him “Acting President of the United States.” A French newspaper described him as “President Roosevelt’s great financial adviser and semi-official chief of Jewish policy in America,” and Joseph Goebbels’s propaganda, which routinely referred to him as “the Jew Baruch,” would paint him as one of America’s leading warmongers and profiteers. In a skit at the Washington press corps’ Gridiron Dinner, newsmen sang, to the tune of “Oh! Susanna”:


When any problem gets too large


It might end in a fluke,


We take it straight to F.D.R.—


Who takes it to Baruch!
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The New York Times, the most influential newspaper in the country by the 1930s, had been Jewish-owned since Adolph Ochs bought it in 1896. It was not the most widely read paper in the country, or even in the city. Its daily circulation was 435,000, twice that on Sunday. By comparison, the mighty Daily News sold nearly two million copies a day, the Daily Mirror 750,000, the Tribune 400,000, the Post 250,000. But, as the saying went, it wasn’t how many people read the Times, it was who read it: everyone in the power elites of New York and Washington. The most influential people in the country were influenced by what they read in the Times every day. Roosevelt read it religiously, was pleased when it said nice things about him, miffed when it did not.


Ochs’s parents were from Bavaria. He had relatives in Germany whom he often visited, and he felt a strong sentimental bond with German culture. He married the daughter of Rabbi Isaac Wise and thoroughly agreed with his Reform principles. Ochs made his last trip to Germany in 1930. He visited with relatives and went to the little town his father was from. Hitler’s rise to power in 1933, followed shortly by the start of his purge of Jews from Germany, shattered Ochs (who had a previous history of depressive incidents). He ceded the running of the Times to his son-in-law, Arthur Hays Sulzberger, and died in 1935.


Sulzberger’s family was also from Germany. If anything, he was even more assimilationist than his in-laws. Judaism played little part in his personal life, and he went to great lengths to give anti-Semites no excuse to criticize the Times as a Jewish paper. He carefully monitored news about Jews and Jewish issues in the paper, even restricting the use of the words “Jew” and “Jewish.” Staff writers with Jewish names were encouraged to use their initials. Zionism was effectively banned from its pages. Most important, Sulzberger’s concerns about how the Times was perceived would lead inevitably to a conscious and methodical downplaying of news about the persecution and massacre of Jews in Europe.
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No one represented the aspirations and concerns of the uptown Jews more than Rabbi Stephen Wise (no relation to Rabbi Isaac), the leading voice of mainstream Reform Judaism for decades. To his supporters he was one of the Jews whose access to the inner sanctums of power in the Roosevelt years benefited all Jews, and one of the first voices in the early 1930s to speak out against Hitler. To his detractors, however, he was a craven apple-polisher who abetted Roosevelt’s slow (or non-) response to the massacre of eastern European Jews during World War II. There was justification for both views.


He was born in Hungary in 1874 to a long line of Orthodox rabbis and brought to New York as an infant. He grew up on East 5th Street in today’s East Village, but in a family milieu much closer to the German Jews uptown than to the Yiddish Jews in the neighborhood. He went to CCNY and Columbia, then completed his rabbinical studies in Vienna. As a young rabbi he embraced Zionism, a pursuit so outré it smacks of youthful rebellion on his part. His Reform community expressed nearly no interest in Palestine before Hitler’s rise. America was their Zion.


Nevertheless, Wise grew in repute as a speaker and preacher. He was a master of the theatrical, imitation-British delivery that was considered the apex of oratory at the time. At thirty-two he was approached by Emanu-El, the flagship Reform synagogue. But after a contretemps with the synagogue’s board—its members wanted to approve his sermon topics (especially on Palestine) beforehand, which he denounced as censorship—he started his own Free Synagogue. He would also found and/or direct the American Jewish Congress, the World Jewish Congress, the Zionist Organization of America, and other Jewish institutions, and he cofounded the NAACP, the ACLU, and the City Affairs Committee, which needled a reticent Governor Roosevelt into dealing with Mayor Jimmy Walker.


Because of that flinty relationship, when Roosevelt went to Washington and brought so many New Yorkers with him, Rabbi Wise was not among them. Governor Roosevelt had considered Wise a nuisance, and Wise had thought Roosevelt shifty. It was only in 1936 that they would patch up their differences, and even then it was a lopsided relationship. Wise never had the influence with FDR that a Rosenman or Morgenthau enjoyed. In his patronizing way, FDR called Wise, who was in his sixties, “Stevey,” while Wise fawned and addressed Roosevelt as “Boss” or “Chief.”


When Hitler came to power in 1933, Wise took a more aggressive stand than many other of New York’s uptown Jews were willing to adopt in public. In March 1933, a month after Hitler became chancellor, Wise organized a public meeting of the city’s Jewish leaders that packed the eighth-floor ballroom of the Hotel Astor in Times Square to overflowing. It was tumultuous. Wise wanted to hold a mass rally at Madison Square Garden to protest “the damnable outrages of Hitlerism.” Others cautioned, amid boos and catcalls, against doing anything to further provoke the Nazis. “I ask you to think whether you want Jewish blood to be seen in the gutters of Germany,” one of them urged. Wise, in full oratorical splendor, quashed them.


A week later, more than twenty thousand people jammed into the Garden, with an estimated thirty-five thousand more out on the streets. Wise, Al Smith, New York’s senator Robert Wagner, and others gave speeches. The state’s Jewish governor Herbert Lehman declined an invitation to speak, saying that he was worried about German retaliation against Jews over there. By implication, former governor Al Smith lambasted Lehman when he declared that there should be no “pussyfooting” about the Nazis. He compared them to the Ku Klux Klan, who had fiercely propagandized against his presidential candidacy in the 1920s because he was Irish and Catholic. “It don’t make any difference to me whether it is a brown shirt or a night shirt,” he quipped.


On April 1, the Nazis launched a boycott of all Jewish shops and services in Germany. Jews around the world responded with their own boycotts of German goods and services. Two New Yorkers, the wealthy German Jewish lawyer Samuel Untermyer and the Russian Yiddish newspaperman Abram Coralnik, organized the national boycott in the United States. Rabbi Wise joined. But other prominent organizations, including B’nai B’rith, still argued against any provocative public actions the Nazis could use as pretext for further punishing Jews in Germany. Wise took to calling these groups the “Sh-Sh Jews.”


The American boycott targeted everything from the transatlantic German cruise ship line the Hamburg-American, which did brisk business in New York, to Macy’s, run by a German Jewish family. In a radio address broadcast by WABC and syndicated nationally, Untermyer denounced the “black clouds of bigotry, race hatred and fanaticism that have descended upon what was once Germany, but is now medieval Hitlerland… a country that has reverted to barbarism.” He warned that the Nazis were already taking the first steps in a “devilishly, deliberately, cold-bloodedly planned” elimination of German Jews and called the boycott a “holy war.”


As Untermyer’s predictions became nightmarish reality in the coming years, Rabbi Wise would continue to give speeches and hold rallies. Some of New York’s Jews, particularly in the Orthodox community, would condemn merely speaking out as weak and craven. To them, Rabbi Wise would look and sound increasingly like a Sh-Sh Jew himself.
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The Jewish New Yorker who was in some ways Roosevelt’s most powerful and influential supporter wasn’t a banker, a lawyer, a rabbi, or a politician. He was the nastiest, most powerful gossip columnist and radio personality in the country. From the time FDR was elected onward, no one adored him more than Walter Winchell did.


Born in 1897, Winchell (originally Weinschel), a grandson of Russian Jewish immigrants, grew up poor in Harlem tenements. In 1910 he and another adolescent, the future star George Jessel, who was already smoking what became his trademark stogies, started touring with a vaudeville troupe. Winchell came back to New York in 1920, stopped performing, and started writing insider Broadway gossip for trade publications and the bottom-feeding tabloid the Evening Graphic. As he grew bolder through the decade he increasingly mixed his innocuous backstage tidbits with venomous rumor and innuendo about the private lives of performers, producers, and their backers. Much of what he passed on he heard sitting all night in speakeasies and nightclubs, where he developed friendly relations with the gangsters who ran them. He eventually made table 50 at Sherman Billingsley’s Stork Club on West 58th Street (later East 53rd Street) his universally known HQ—“New York’s New Yorkiest place,” he called it. Table 50 was in the Cub Room, a VIP inner sanctum only the rich, powerful, and famous could enter, from movie stars to mobsters to the Duke of Windsor.


By the end of the 1920s Winchell could make or break a show, a career, or a marriage, a power that rendered him the most courted and most feared man in New York show business. In 1929 he stepped up to Hearst’s Mirror; his column, “Walter Winchell On Broadway,” nationally syndicated by King Features, became the most widely read in the country. In 1932 CBS gave him a national fifteen-minute slot on Sunday nights, and it was a giant hit as well.


By then Winchell yearned to be more than the top gossipmonger in the land. With the simultaneous rise of Hitler and Roosevelt in 1933, he started working politics into his writing, in his own way. Deciding that “the best way to fight a person like Hitler is to ridicule him,” he took his initial angle of attack from a remark by the New York journalist Quentin Reynolds: “Hitler is a fag.” In column after column Winchell mocked the Führer as “an out and out fairy” and called him “Adele Hitler.” To Winchell, Nazis were Ratzis and swastinkas. When the Völkischer Beobachter railed against him, he wrote, “It is so nice to know that my efforts haven’t altogether been snubbed.”


A week after Roosevelt’s inauguration in March 1933, Winchell was excited to receive an invitation to a private meeting at the White House. He and the president spoke for only ten minutes, but it was enough; Winchell, his biographer Neal Gabler has written, “suddenly became a rabid Roosevelt enthusiast.” For the rest of the 1930s he rhapsodized about FDR like a starstruck fan. It repeatedly got him into hot water with his boss, the conservative Hearst, but Winchell was far too popular to rein in.


Starting in 1938, readers and listeners would notice a new depth to Winchell’s political items. He seemed to be getting the same sort of insider dope on Washington that he’d always gotten on Broadway. It was because he had a new ghostwriter for his political items.


Ernest Cuneo was a lawyer by trade, but his real skills lay in shadowy backroom politics. He was a resourceful fixer, legman, deal broker, and matchmaker, a guy the Democrats and the White House called on when they needed something done and didn’t necessarily want to hear how.


Born in 1905 in New Jersey to an Italian immigrant metalworker, he was built stocky and thick. He played football from high school through a couple of years in the NFL with the Orange Tornadoes and the Brooklyn Dodgers, who shared Ebbets Field with the baseball Dodgers in the 1930s. With age he softened to nearly 300 pounds of jolly fat. He studied at Columbia Law School under Adolf Berle, and in 1931 he got a job as a law clerk in Congressman Fiorello La Guardia’s office. Working for the hyperactively mercurial congressman was his political birth by fire.


When he met Winchell at “21” on West 52nd Street one night in 1938, Cuneo was legal counsel to the Democratic National Committee. The husky, affable party hack and the sharp, garrulous gossip hound forged a productive partnership. Cuneo fed Winchell a constant stream of inside-Washington scoops, and Winchell happily let himself be used as a platform and mouthpiece for whatever position Franklin Roosevelt wanted him to promote. Given his enormous and faithful following, Winchell was arguably the single most effective propaganda tool ever wielded by Roosevelt’s White House.
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